Court of Appeals Cause No. 351653

FILED

96186.7

AUG 0 9 2018

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON By

STADELMAN FRUIT, LLC, a Washington limited liability company

Plaintiff / Respondent

V.

JIM D. VOORHIES, a single person; JOHN E. HOWARD, as Personal Representative for the ESTATE OF FLORENCE E. HOWARD,

Defendant / Petitioner

PETITION FOR REVIEW

J. Jay Carroll, WSBA #17424 Halverson | Northwest Law Group P.C. 405 East Lincoln Avenue Yakima, WA 98901 Telephone: (509) 248-6030

Facsimile: (509) 453-6880 jcarroll@halversonNW.com

D.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
	1. Introduction
	2. Factual Background5
E.	ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED
	Standards for Summary Judgment in a Contract Interpretation Action
	 The Court Erred in Ruling, as a Matter of Law, that the Mortgage Signed by Voorhies Covered Amounts Other than Crop Year 2008
	3. Voorhies is Entitled to an Award of Reasonable Attorney's Fees
F.	CONCLUSION18
AP]	PENDIX - Court of Appeals Decision

Table of Authorities

State Cases

Berg v. Hudesman, 115 Wn.2d 657, 668, 801 P.2d 222 (1990)
Douglas County Mem'l Hosp. Ass'n v. Newby, 45 Wash.2d 784, 792, 278, P.2d 330 (1954)14
Go2Net, Inc. v. C.I. Host, Inc., 115 Wn. App. 73, 85, 60 P.3d 1245 (2003)
Hearst Communications, Inc. v. Seattle Times Co., 154 Wn.2d 493, 503, 115 P.3d 262 (2005)
Int'l Marine Underwriters v. ABCD Marine, LLC, 179 Wn.2d 274, 282, 313 P.3d 395 (2013)10
John R. O'Reilly, Inc. v. Tillman, 111 Wash. 594, 191 P.866 (1920)15
Ledaura, LLC v. Gould, 155 Wn. App. 786, 798, 237 P.3d 914 (2010)11
McDonald v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co., 119 Wn.2d 724, 733, 837 P.2d 1000 (1992)11
Renfro v. Kaur, 156 Wn. App. 655, 661, 235 P.3d 800 (2010)
U.S. Life Ins. Co., 129 Wn.2d 565, 569, 919 P.2d 594 (1996)12
W.M. Dickson Co. v. Pierce County, 128 Wn. App. 488, 493, 116 P.3d 409 (2005)
Wallace v. Kuehner, 111 Wn. App. 46 P.3d 823 (2002)

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Jim Voorhies, asks this court to accept review of the Court of Appeals' Decision Terminating Review designated in Part B of this Petition.

B. COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION

Voorhies requests that the Supreme Court review the decision of the Court of Appeals, Division III, *Stadelman Fruit, LLC v. Jim Voorhies, et al.*, in case No. 351633 filed July 10, 2018. A copy of the decision is attached in the Appendix, pages A-1 through A-18.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. In a contract interpretation case, what evidence should the trial court consider and what are the standards applicable to a summary judgment motion in such a consideration. What evidence is necessary for the Court to grant such a motion as a matter of law?
 - A. Is Voorhies entitled to judgment as a matter of law or, at the very least, do issues of fact exist that would preclude the granting of summary judgment to either party, necessitating the reversal and remand of this action.
 - B. The same issue is presented in the Mortgage interpretation of this appeal. Is Voorhies entitled to

judgment as a matter of law or, at the very least, do issues of fact exist that would preclude the granting of summary judgment to either party, necessitating the reversal and remand of this action.

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Introduction.

Jim Voorhies (hereinafter "Voorhies") is a 79-year-old, long time orchardist in the Yakima Valley. (CP 359). This lawsuit arises out of Voorhies bringing his apples to the apple packing house called Stadelman to store, pack and sell for crop years 2008, 2009 and 2010.

Unlike apples, money does not grow on trees. Voorhies needed money in order to properly grow his apple crop. Rather than go to a bank to provide that financing, he used fruit packing facilities, such as, Stadelman Fruit, to provide this financing as well as to store, pack and sell his apples. The financing was provided by way of periodic "advances" of funds which Voorhies then used for various growing expenses. This same process occurred every year with Stadelman for crop years 2008-2010.1

¹ The term "crop year" is used because the growing of the apple occurs in a "crop year" but the apples harvested usually are stored for months before being packed and sold and the grower credited with the funds from the sale. Crop year is used to refer to the year that the crop is grown and harvested. For instance, for crop year 2008, the apple tree would typically break dormancy and start growing in the spring of the year. The trees would then bloom (creating the apple crop) and that crop would grow and mature over the next six or so months. Harvest typically would be in September – October of the crop year. The

Stadelman Fruit is a fruit storage and packing facility. It does not make its money by advancing growers money to grow the crop, but, rather, makes its money in the packing and storage charges that it then assesses the various growers that bring it fruit, such as Voorhies. The money to pay for those charges are taken directly from the proceeds of the sales of the fruit. Over the three years that Voorhies brought his fruit to Stadelman, it consistently charged Voorhies around \$161 per bin² of apples for these packing and storage charges. Contrast this with the amounts of net revenue Voorhies was credited by Stadelman: \$14.58 per bin in 2008; \$81.80 per bin in 2009 and \$92.64 per bin in 2010.

Here's how the system works. Voorhies grows and harvests his apples and brings them in bins to Stadelman. Stadelman then stores the bins and will pack and sell them at some time in the future. The proceeds from the sales go to Stadelman. Stadelman then first deducts its storage and packing charges off the top of the Voorhies sales proceeds. Stadelman gets paid first. Any remaining money was paid to the grower. However, in all years in question, all money went to Stadelman to pay for storage and packing fees as well as the advances that Stadelman had made to Voorhies.

Voorhies' harvested apples were then taken to Stadelman for storage packing and sale. However, that would typically not occur for many months.

² When apples are harvested they are placed into large, typically wooden, "bins" which are roughly square in shape and hold around 800-900 pounds of apples each.

In summary, over the three crop years, Voorhies brought Stadelman Fruit a total of 4,313 bins of apples for it to store, pack and sell. Stadelman Fruit advanced Voorhies a total of \$573,436 to accomplish this task. The revenue from the fruit generated \$452,183.35 all of which was paid to Stadelman. In addition, Voorhies paid Stadelman Fruit an additional \$679,381.26 for storing, packing and selling the Voorhies apples. If you are keeping score at home, that's Voorhies a total of \$452,183.35, credited to Voorhies (all paid to Stadelman) and Stadelman Fruit \$1,132,401.10. That's the background as to how the industry works to put this motion into context. That's how Stadelman makes its money.

The issues presented here are whether there are issues of fact existing that would render the Court's decision in error. Under the existing case law, such a determination should be left to the trier of fact and are not appropriate for summary judgment determination. This Court should take this opportunity to clarify those things that can be considered in a contract interpretation summary judgment and set forth when the granting of such a motion is appropriate. In this case, Voorhies is entitled to such relief or, at the very least, issues of fact exist that would preclude summary judgment to any party.

2. Factual Background.

During his life, Voorhies has taken his apples to numerous apple packing houses up and down the Yakima Valley. (CP 359). The process usually works like this. A grower will take his or her fruit to an apple packing house. A grower contract is signed (CP 72-82). The grower agrees to bring all, or a portion of his fruit to the apple packing house. In this case, Voorhies agreed to bring all of his apples to Stadelman. (CP 72, 74).

The grower agreement provides that Stadelman can (and will) charge Voorhies for the storage and packing of his apples. Those charges are deducted (offset) directly from the sales proceeds of the apples (CP 76). Stadelman can also make advancements to Voorhies for the growing of his apples. The repayment of these advances again comes from the apple sales proceeds and Voorhies grants Stadelman an offset right to recover the expense. (CP 76-77).

Over the course of his orchard time, Voorhies brought his apples to Stadelman on three occasions. (CP 359). The first time Voorhies took his apples to Stadelman was in 1996. The crop revenue from the apples was \$100,000 short of covering the advances. Stadelman did not seek to recover the deficit. (CP 360).

The second time was in 1998. Again, Voorhies sought and was advanced money from Stadelman to grow the crop and again as with 1996,

the revenue derived from the sale of the crop was not sufficient to repay Stadelman for the advances that had been made. Voorhies was told by Stadelman that no such repayment would be required and no lawsuit was brought. (CP 360).

For the next ten years, Voorhies went to other apple packing facilities. In 2008, Voorhies was approached by a representative from Stadelman soliciting him to bring his apples back to Stadelman to store, pack and sell. Voorhies was agreeable to do so but also specifically agreed with Stadelman that Stadelman would provide the financing to grow his crop. Stadelman agreed to do so. (CP 360-61).

Voorhies did sign a mortgage for his property to secure the 2008 advances. He never agreed to any extension of that mortgage to any advances for crop years after 2008. (CP 361). For crop year 2011, Stadelman refused to advance any funds to grow the Voorhies crop and also told him he could not take his apples to any other apple packing facility. (CP 362).

This is a contract action. There are two documents that form the basis for this lawsuit. The first document is the "Grower Agreement" signed by the parties. The Grower Agreement provides that Voorhies is to bring his apple crop to Stadelman Fruit, beginning in crop year 2008. (CP 72-75).

The Grower Agreement also has a specific provision dealing with advancements that could be made by Stadelman Fruit to Voorhies:

ADVANCES: Handler may make discretionary 7. advances to Grower to grow and harvest Grower's fruit crop on such terms and conditions as Handler shall, in its sole discretion, determine to be appropriate. If handler has agreed to make an advance to Grower, Grower hereby agrees to execute any security agreement, promissory note, financing statement, and other documents deemed reasonable and necessary by Handler to ensure the repayment of such advances and, in addition, any subordination agreements determined reasonable and necessary by Handler for such purpose. Handler's decision to make advances in any particular instance shall not constitute an obligation or agreement by Handler to provide such advances to Grower in the future, and Grower acknowledges and agrees that such advances are discretionary with Handler.

(CP 77).

The Grower agreement also had language related to payments to be made to Stadelman:

6.2 Right of Offset: The parties understand and agree that Handler shall have the right to offset all advances, assessments, charges and expenses owed by Grower prior to the payment of any funds to Grower or any third party having an interest in Grower's crops or the proceeds thereof.

(CP 76).

The second document that is at issue in this case is a mortgage that was signed by Voorhies in favor of Stadelman Fruit with respect to advances related to the 2008 crop year. This mortgage specifically states that it is given:

To secure the performance of each agreement of the mortgagor herein contained and the payment of all sums due Mortgagee in providing crop financing for the 2008 crop to be grown upon said premises, including all renewals, modifications, and extensions thereof, and also such additional sums as shall be agreed upon.

(CP 85)

In crop year 2008, Stadelman advanced \$180,400 to Voorhies for the growing and harvesting of the Voorhies apple crop. (CP 98). After revenue was offset a deficit of \$10,477.00 for crop year 2008 remained. For crop year 2008, Stadelman accounted to Voorhies a grand total of \$13,045.69 in apple sales proceeds (all of which was paid to Stadelman) for 895 bins of apples Voorhies brought to it (\$14.58/bin) while it paid itself an additional \$143,491.78 (\$160.33/bin) out of the Voorhies fruit proceeds for its packing and storage charges.

In crop year 2009, Stadelman advanced \$226,525 for the growing and harvesting of the Voorhies apple crop. (CP 98). Voorhies was credited \$194,286.12 for apple proceeds associated with the 2009 crop of which 100% was paid to Stadelman. (CP 98-99). This left a deficit of \$32,239 for crop year 2009. In packing and selling the 2009 Voorhies apple crop, Stadelman also was assessed \$383,337.26 in packing and storage charges for the Voorhies 2,375 bins of apples brought to Stadelman, the proceeds of which, went directly to Stadelman. (CP 402, 404, 406, 408, 410, 411-12, 415-16, 418, 413-14, 400). Thus, for crop year 2009, Stadelman accounted

proceeds to Voorhies of \$194,286.12 (all of which was paid to Stadelman) for 2,375 bins of apples Voorhies brought to it (\$81.80/bin) while Stadelman paid itself an additional \$382,737.26 (\$161.15/bin) out of the Voorhies fruit proceeds.

In crop year 2010, Stadelman advanced \$166,511.99 for the growing and harvesting of the Voorhies apple crop. (CP 98-99). Stadelman credited Voorhies \$83,651.3 for apple proceeds associated with the 2010 crop of which 100% was paid to Stadelman. (CP 99). This left a deficit of \$77,701.25. In packing and selling the 2010 Voorhies apple crop, Stadelman also received \$153,155.97 in packing and storage charges from the 903 bins of Voorhies apples that went directly to Stadelman. (CP 430-34, 422, 424-28). Thus, for crop year 2010, Stadelman accounted proceeds to Voorhies of \$83,651.71 (all of which was paid to Stadelman) for 903 bins of apples Voorhies brought to it (\$92.64/bin) while Stadelman paid itself an additional \$153,155.97 (\$169.61/bin) out of the Voorhies fruit proceeds.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED.

It is undisputed that there is no promissory note in this case. There is no loan agreement. There is a Grower Agreement executed between Stadelman and Voorhies. There is also a mortgage executed between Stadelman and Voorhies given to secure obligations under the Grower Agreement related to crop year 2008. That is the record that exists in this

case. Those documents do not "clearly" justify the trial or appellate court decision in this case.

1. <u>Standards for Summary Judgment in a Contract Interpretation Action.</u>

This section of a brief is typically the "throwaway" section since all attorneys and judges know the summary judgment standards. However, in this case, the standards for summary judgment in a contract interpretation situation are indeed dispositive and both the trial court and the Court of Appeals decision and were ignored by both. With a proper application of these standards, there is no question that a reversal is warranted.

In interpreting a contract, the court's function is to ascertain the intent of the parties at the time they entered into the contract. *See Int'l Marine Underwriters v. ABCD Marine, LLC,* 179 Wn.2d 274, 282, 313 P.3d 395 (2013). Washington employs the objective manifestation theory to interpret contracts. *See Hearst Communications, Inc. v. Seattle Times Co.,* 154 Wn.2d 493, 503, 115 P.3d 262 (2005).

At this point, the standards become critical to the decision made by the trial and appellate court in this case. Recall that this case involves the granting of Stadelman's motion for summary judgment. However, in the context of interpreting contracts, ascertaining the parties' intent is generally a question of fact. See W.M. Dickson Co. v. Pierce County, 128 Wn. App.

488, 493, 116 P.3d 409 (2005). Interpreting the meaning of a contract is generally a question of fact. *See Ledaura, LLC v. Gould*, 155 Wn. App. 786, 798, 237 P.3d 914 (2010). Summary judgment is inappropriate when the written contract, viewed with the parties' other objective manifestations has two or more reasonable meanings. *See Renfro v. Kaur*, 156 Wn. App. 655, 661, 235 P.3d 800 (2010).

The courts below ruled, as a matter of law in this case, that the Grower Agreement called for Voorhies to repay any shortfall on the advances that Stadelman made, as a matter of law. However, it is clear that such a decision, as a matter of law in interpreting contracts, can be made only when:

(1) The interpretation does not depend on the use of extrinsic evidence, or (2) only one reasonable inference can be drawn from the extrinsic evidence. Therefore, summary judgment is proper if the parties' written contract, viewed in light of the parties' other objective manifestations, has only one reasonable meaning.

Go2Net, Inc. v. C.I. Host, Inc., 115 Wn. App. 73, 85, 60 P.3d 1245 (2003)(citations omitted).

An ambiguity is presented if the language is fairly susceptible to at least two different but reasonable interpretations. *See McDonald v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co.*, 119 Wn.2d 724, 733, 837 P.2d 1000 (1992). Washington uses the "context rule" when interpreting contracts. *See Go2Net, Inc.*, 115 Wn. App. at 84. Extrinsic evidence may be viewed

irrespective of whether the Court initially considers the contract language "ambiguous." *See U.S. Life Ins. Co.*, 129 Wn.2d 565, 569, 919 P.2d 594 (1996).

Any determination of meaning or ambiguity should only be made in the light of the relevant evidence of the situation and relations of the parties, the subject matter of the transaction, preliminary negotiations and statements made therein, usages of trade, and the course of dealing between the parties.

Berg v. Hudesman, 115 Wn.2d 657, 668, 801 P.2d 222 (1990).

Voorhies has presented extrinsic evidence and a reasonable interpretation of the grower agreement that would, at the very least, create issues of fact making summary judgment inappropriate. Neither the court of appeals, nor the trial court were acting nor should be acting as the trier of fact in this case. At the very least, issues of fact were presented that required a trial in this case.

Secondarily, the Court of Appeals states that this issue was a "either/or" argument in that either one party or the other prevails. That is not the case. In Voorhies's assignment of error, he specifically stated:

2. If the grower agreement is capable of creating such an obligation for Voorhies to repay advances, do issues of fact exist as to the interpretation of the grower agreement making the granting of summary judgment inappropriate.

In the briefing, Voorhies again argued:

A. At the Very Least, Issues of Fact Exist in this Case Precluding Summary Judgment for Stadelman

Framed in light of the above summary judgment standards for contract interpretation, the issue presented to this Court is whether the Grower Agreement has only one reasonable interpretation that it contains an obligation by Voorhies to repay any shortfall in revenue to cover advances made by Stadelman. Such is not the case based on the record presented and the language of the document.

* * * *

At the very least, issues of fact exist as to the contract terms per the Agreement. Voorhies has set forth a reasonable interpretation of the Grower Agreement which renders summary judgment inappropriate. Voorhies would further respectfully submit that it is entitled to summary judgment on this issue under the standards set forth above.

There is no question that Voorhies asserts that he is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. However, there is also no dispute that Voorhies has argued that, at the very least, issues of fact exist in this case making summary judgment inappropriate. The court of appeals is wrong in its assertion to the contrary.

At the very least, issues of fact are presented. The Court may well wonder why someone would advance money and not expect to be repaid.

A fair question. However, Stadelman more than recaptured what it now claims was owed.

Wallace v. Kuehner, 111 Wn. App. 46 P.3d 823 (2002) is helpful in this analysis as well. In Wallace, a father advanced \$100,000 to his daughter which was used to fund a portion of a development the daughter was involved in. While there was initial talk of a promissory note, such was never signed. The father did advance the \$100,000. The lawsuit involved his claim to be repaid the money. Wallace, 111 Wn. App. at 812-13.

The Court found that the father had repudiated any intention to be repaid the money that had been advanced:

The constitution guarantees every person the liberty to do what is economically foolish as well as what may be generally considered prudent and wise. Douglas County Mem'l Hosp. Ass'n v. Newby, 45 Wash.2d 784, 792, 278, P.2d 330 (1954). The evidence establishes that Wallace rejected the note and then gave in to his daughter's request for money. Wallace's statement to Brenda Kuehner after advancing the money stressed that should she lose the money, her share of any anticipated inheritance would be affected. The promissory note having been thrown away and that fact having been communicated to Brenda Kuehner, the \$100,000 was at most an advance on Brenda Kuehner's inheritance. There was no contract and no promise by the Kuehners to repay the \$100,000.

Wallace, 111 Wn. App. at 817-18 (emphasis added).

Such is the case herein. There is nothing in the Grower Agreement to require repayment, or, at the very least, issues of fact exist. This Court should accept review to address these issues. This Court should take this opportunity to expound upon and clarify the *Berg v. Hudesman* standards

first enunciated back in 1986. This clarification is especially appropriate in a case, such as presented herein, where the granting of summary judgment is considered. It is appropriate for this Court to delineate the extrinsic evidence that can be considered and the effect thereof. Under existing law, the Court of Appeals considered extrinsic evidence and then came to its own conclusion as to what it meant in this contract interpretation action. This was error and trial is required in this case since Voorhies has set forth a reasonable interpretation of the contract. Summary judgment was not appropriate.

2. The Court Erred in Ruling, as a Matter of Law that the Mortgage Signed by Voorhies Covered Amounts Other than Crop Year 2008.

Voorhies did sign a mortgage in this case in favor of Stadelman. However, that mortgage was limited to financing for crop year 2008. By definition, a mortgage does not create a debt. Rather it is security for a valid, existing debt. *See John R. O'Reilly, Inc. v. Tillman*, 111 Wash. 594, 191 P.866 (1920). Thus, the mortgage at issue in this case does not create any debt. It simply secures any obligation to the extent that such obligation exists. As outlined above, no such debt is created. There is no valid existing debt to be secured.

The mortgage must also be further limited by the terms that are included therein. As noted above, the mortgage itself states that it is given:

To secure the performance of each agreement of the mortgagor herein contained and the payment of all sums due Mortgagee in providing crop financing for the 2008 crop to be grown upon said premises, including all renewals, modifications, and extensions thereof, and also such additional sums as shall be agreed upon.

(CP 85).

The language of the mortgage clearly states that it is to secure obligations only with respect to the 2008 crop year. As is set forth in the Voorhies declaration, there was never any agreement or understanding that the mortgage would apply to subsequent crop years. (CP 361). Since it is undisputed that Voorhies has been paid sufficient funds to pay off the 2008 crop year advances, the mortgage should be deemed satisfied, even if the Grower Agreement could be deemed to create a "debt". These are independent issues and matter on priority issues. Stadelman should not be allowed to foreclose the mortgage, since no debt is secured and Voorhies never agreed to the extension for the mortgage beyond advances for crop year 2008 which have undisputedly been satisfied. Voorhies should have been granted summary judgment on this issue and the Stadelman mortgage and foreclosure claims should have been denied.

The same arguments as to appropriate standards to apply to a summary judgment motion are equally applicable to this argument. The court of appeals viewed the above quoted language differently than

Voorhies did. Voorhies viewed the language as requiring the parties to agree that the mortgage apply to future years. It is undisputed that no such agreement was reached. By contrast, the court of appeals read the provision being that if Stadelman made future advances, they would automatically by covered by the mortgage. Voorhies does not agree that this is a reasonable interpretation of the language, but, at the very least, issues of fact do exist that would justify the denial of plaintiff's motion and require remand.

3. <u>Voorhies is Entitled to an Award of Reasonable Attorney's Fees.</u>

Pursuant to RAP 18.1, Voorhies requests an award of attorney's fees in this case. Both the mortgage and the Grower Agreement contain attorney fees provisions for the prevailing party in an action thereon. (CP 22, "In the event of a suit or action to enforce this Agreement, the prevailing party shall be entitled to be awarded such reasonable attorney's fees and litigation costs"), (CP 91, "In any action to foreclose this mortgage . . . the mortgagor agrees to pay a reasonable sum as attorney's fees and all costs and expenses in connection with such suit.") If the trial court/court of appeals is reversed and the Voorhies motions granted, Voorhies is entitled to such an award on both issues and will comply with RAP rules as to submitting documentation.

F. CONCLUSION

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