FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/10/2018 1:55 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 96186-7

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Court of Appeals No. 351653-III

STADELMAN FRUIT, LLC, a Washington limited liability company,

Plaintiff/Respondent,

V.

JIM D. VOORHIES, a single person; JOHN E. HOWARD, as Personal Representative for the ESTATE OF FLORENCE E. HOWARD,

Defendants/Appellants.

# ANSWER OF STADELMAN FRUIT, LLC TO THE PETITION FOR REVIEW

PETER M. RITCHIE, WSBA #41293 Attorneys for Plaintiff/Respondent Meyer, Fluegge & Tenney, P.S. P.O. Box 22680, Yakima, WA 98907-2680 (509) 575-8500

##

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

### V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

# A. There Is No Basis under RAP 13.4 for Review to Be Granted

Review by this Court of decisions of the Court of Appeals is very limited. Under RAP 13.4, review is only appropriate in the following limited circumstances, none of which is present

### here:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

### RAP 13.4(b).

A party is not entitled to review simply because he disagrees with the Court of Appeals decision on the merits. The primary purpose of a petition for review is to persuade the Court that one or more of the considerations specified in subdivision (b) of the rule applies. The purpose is not to reargue the merits of the appeal:

[I]t is a mistake for a party seeking review to make the perceived injustice the focus of attention in the petition for review. RAP 13.4(b) says nothing in its criteria about correcting isolated instances of injustice. This is because the Supreme Court, in passing upon petitions for review, is not operating as a court of error. Rather, it is functioning as the highest policy-making judicial body of the state. It is the ultimate arbiter of the meaning of the state constitution, statutory and regulatory law, and is responsible for the development of the common law and public policy within its sphere of authority.

The Supreme Court's view in evaluating petitions is global in nature. Consequently, the primary focus of a petition for review should be on why there is a compelling need to have the issue or issues presented decided *generally*. The significance of the issues must be shown to transcend the particular application of the law in question. Each of the four alternative criteria of RAP 13.4(b) supports this view.

The court accepts review sparingly, only approximately 10 percent of the time. Failure to show the court the "big picture" will likely diminish the already statistically slim prospects of review.

RAP 13.4 (b) (3), (4) criteria, regarding significant questions of constitutional law or issues of substantial public interest, require more extensive analysis of how the issues resonate throughout the jurisdiction. For example, in support of a claim that the issue is one of "substantial public interest," the petitioner should point out any evidence in the record or information capable of judicial notice which demonstrates the issue is recurring in nature or impacts a large number of persons.

Wash. Appellate Prac. Deskbook § 27.11 (italics in original).

Voorhies' Petition fails to demonstrate why any of the criteria in RAP 13.4 points towards acceptance of review. Neither in the Petition for Review nor in the decision from the Court of Appeals are there any issues that would fall under one of the four conditions as outlined by RAP 13.4(b). Indeed, Voorhies does not even claim this case falls under RAP 13.4(b). He does not in fact even mention, much less cite, that appellate rule, which is the controlling standard of review. Rather, he focuses entirely on the merits of the case as if it is a foregone conclusion this Court will accept review. *Petition for Review at 9-18*.

This is telling. Presumably Voorhies ignored the standard of review because this case falls very far from the RAP 13.4 tree. It does not involve any conflict among the divisions of the Court of Appeals or with this Court's prior precedent. And it does not involve—or come close to involving—any significant issues of law under the Constitution, or any issue of substantial public

interest. This is evident by even a cursory review of the Petition, which does not advance any argument to the contrary.

This case is at most a routine contract dispute governed by longstanding precedent, uncontroversial rules of contract interpretation, and well-known and well-accepted summary judgment standards. With respect, nothing about this case justifies review by this Court.

# B. The Trial Court Did Not Err, and the Court of Appeals Was Corrected in Affirming the Lower Court

As to the merits, Voorhies advances two main arguments, both of which collapse under scrutiny and were properly rejected by the Court of Appeals.

First, Voorhies argues he had no obligation to repay the many advances Stadelman made him despite the deficiency left after the offset of the apple sales. As discussed below, this is contrary to the governing documents and is supported by no evidence or reasonable interpretation of the documents.

Second, he argues that the mortgage he signed to secure repayment did not cover advances made past 2008. As shown below, this argument is completely untenable.

## 1. <u>The Agreements Required Voorhies to Repay</u> Any Deficiencies

Voorhies first argues that there is no loan agreement, and that nothing in the parties' fruit handling agreement required repayment of advances that were not fully offset by fruit sales. *Petition for Review at 9, 14.* That is incorrect. The fruit handling agreement as well as the mortgage plainly contemplate repayment of advances/loans. The fruit handling agreement states at Paragraph 7:

If Handler [Stadelman] has agreed to make an advance to Grower, Grower hereby agrees to execute any security agreement, promissory note, financing statement, and other documents deemed reasonable and necessary by Handler to ensure the *repayment* of such advances . . . .

As the Court of Appeals correctly noted, "this provision would serve no purpose if Jim Voorhies lacked an obligation to pay any deficiency after a credit for sale proceeds." <u>Stadelman</u>

<u>Fruit, LLC v. Voorhies</u>, 35165-3-III, 2018 WL 3359659, at \*5 (2018).

This is further evidenced by the fact that the Mortgage explicitly states that it is given to secure payment of "all sums advanced to provide crop financing." Specifically, it states it is being given

to secure the payment of all sums due Mortgagee [Stadelman] pursuant to the crop handling agreement of even date herewith between Mortgagor and Mortgagee, including all sums advanced to provide crop financing for the crop to be grown upon the following described real estate [followed by legal description of Assessor's Parcel Nos. 171423-22001 and 171423-22002].

The only reasonable interpretation of the agreement and the mortgage is that Voorhies was obligated to repay any advances that were not offset by proceeds from his fruit sales. Per the mortgage, this included "all sums <u>advanced</u> to provide crop financing." That is the conclusion the Court of Appeals reached, and there is no basis under RAP 13.4 to review it.

Voorhies also argues there is no promissory note to evidence a debt. *Petition for Review at 9*. That is irrelevant. As the Court of Appeals correctly noted, "an 'account' or a debt need not be evidenced by any writing or promise to pay." <u>Voorhies</u>, 35165-3-III, 2018 WL 3359659 at \*5. Tellingly, Voorhies does not cite any authority establishing that a promissory note is required to evidence a debt for the debtor to become obligated to pay the debt. He simply asserts that must be the case.

Voorhies also argues in his Petition that the fruit handling agreement is subject to multiple interpretations, generating an issue of fact as to its meaning. However, this is disingenuous. As the Court of Appeals recognized, Voorhies conceded below that there was no factual dispute about the interpretation of the agreement, when he argued that the Court of Appeals should decide the issue as a matter of law: "We conclude that the fruit handling agreement bears only one reasonable meaning. Jim Voorhies does not provide extrinsic testimony that clashes with

that meaning. <u>Voorhies agrees the meaning of the fruit handling agreement creates only a question of law.</u>" <u>Voorhies</u>, 35165-3-III, 2018 WL 3359659, at \*6 (emphasis added).

Finally, as a last resort Voorhies relies on Wallace v. Kuehner, 111 Wn. App. 809, 43 P.3d 823 (2002). *Petition for Review at 14*. He also cited that case below and the Court of Appeals rightly rejected its application. The reliance is problematic because Wallace involves completely different facts. In Wallace, a father loaned his daughter money. Thereafter the father discarded the promissory note and declared that, if his daughter lost the money loaned, the amount would be taken from her inheritance. The court ruled that the father could not recover on the debt because of the later agreement to collect the money only by deducting the sum from the inheritance.

Wallace does not apply because it does not involve remotely similar facts (i.e., a promissory note and later promise to forego repayment). As the Court of Appeals correctly noted, "Voorhies supplie[d] no testimony that Stadelman Fruit ever

agreed to forgo amounts owed to it for the crop years 2008, 2009, and 2010." Voorhies, 35165-3-III, 2018 WL 3359659, at \*5.

# 2. The Mortgage Clearly Covers Advances Made after 2008

Voorhies next argues that the mortgage only secured the 2008 crop year, and not the subsequent advances. *Petition for Review at 15-16*. He claims the fruit he delivered in 2009-2010 offset the 2008 advances. This argument contradicts the plain language of the documents.

The mortgage Voorhies signed secured "the payment of all sums due [Stadelman Fruit] in providing crop financing for the 2008 crop to be grown upon said premises, including all renewals, modifications, and extensions thereof, and also such additional sums as shall be agreed upon."

The fruit handling agreement specifically provides that it renewed automatically unless terminated, which was never done.

The mortgage thus clearly covered the advances in 2009 and

2010, as those were renewals or modifications under the fruit handling agreement.

Moreover, as the Court of Appeals also correctly noted, the mortgage covers the 2009 and 2010 deficiencies because those debts "resulted from such 'additional sums as shall be agreed upon.' . . . The language does not require that both parties agree that the mortgage will secure additional sums, only that the parties agree to additional sums provided by Stadelman Fruit for crop financing. Jim Voorhies obviously agreed to the sums advanced in 2009 and 2010 or he would not have accepted the funds." Voorhies, 35165-3-III, 2018 WL 3359659 at \*6.

In short, Voorhies misconstrues the documents. A correct analysis of the records demonstrates the propriety of Division III's ruling. Further, it demonstrates why this case does not implicate any of the considerations in RAP 13.4(b).

# VI. THE COURT SHOULD AWARD STADELMAN FEES ON APPEAL

Pursuant to RAP 18.1(j), Stadelman requests that the

Court award Stadelman its attorney's fees and expenses incurred in preparing and filing this answer to the Petition for Review.

### VII. CONCLUSION

Voorhies has failed to satisfy the elements of RAP 13.4(b). His Petition for Review fails to demonstrate how the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with this Court's prior rulings, or with other divisions of the Court of Appeals. In addition, he fails to identify, much less argue, any matters of substantial public interest or constitutional import. This is simply an ordinary case of contract interpretation that raises no issues justifying review by this Court. Review is improper, and the Court should deny the Petition. The Court should also award Stadelman its costs and attorney's fees under RAP 18.1.